RECEIVED

Dec 06 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Beaufort County

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity
Case No: 2020-CP-07-01547

Appellate Case No. 2022-000301

Todd E. Taylor,Respondent,

-v-

Amar and Kennie Gill Living Trust Dated
March 15, 2019; Kennie Lee Miller Gill,
Trustee of the Amar and Kennie Gill
Living Trust Dated March 15, 2019;
Kenneth V.L. Miller; and Anna M. Miller..... Appellants,

-v-

South Beach Village Lagoon Villas, II,
Horizontal Property Regime LVIIRespondent.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Louis H. Lang, SC Bar No. 3127
CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC
1812 Lincoln St., Ste. 200
PO Box 1390

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Could the Master alter the unanimity requirement of HPA § 27-31-60(a) regarding changes in the Regime unit owners' ownership percentages in the Regime common and limited common area elements when this section of the HPA could not be overridden by NCA § 33-31-160(c)?

II.

Could the Master change the Gill-Millers' property rights established by the 1973 Master Deed without the Gill-Millers' consent, when they, and all the unit co-owners, accepted and ratified those rights upon their purchase of their Regime estates in real property subject to the provisions of the 1973 Master Deed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Todd E. Taylor (“Taylor”), filed his Complaint on July 31, 2020. (Complaint, ROA 25). Appellants, Amar and Kennie Gill Living Trust Dated March 15, 2019, Kennie Lee Miller Gill, Trustee of the Amar and Kennie Gill Living Trust Dated March 15, 2019, Kenneth V.L. Miller, and Anna M. Miller (the “Gill-Millers”), filed their Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint on December 3, 2021, joining Respondent, South Beach Village Lagoon Villas, II, Horizontal Property Regime LVII (the “Regime”). (Gill-Millers Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint, ROA 32). The Regime filed its Answer to the Gill-Millers’ Third-Party Complaint on March 5, 2021. (Regime Answer to Gill-Millers’ Third Party Complaint, ROA 41).

On August 25, 2021, the Regime filed a Petition for Relief under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160(c), to which the Gill-Millers filed a Response on November 11, 2021. (Petition for Relief, and Gill-Millers’ Response, ROA, respectively, 45 and 91).

On October 6, 2021, with the consent of all parties, and under Rule 53(b), SCRCPP, the case was referred in part to the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity for Beaufort County.¹ (Order of Reference, ROA 1).

A hearing on the Regime’s Petition for Relief was held on November 22, 2021, and on February 3, 2022, the Master entered the appealed-from Order, which granted the Regime’s Petition for Relief. (Order Granting the Regime’s Petition for Relief, ROA 4).

On February 11, 2022, the Gill-Millers filed a motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, to alter or amend the Master’s Order granting the Regime’s Petition for Relief, which the Master denied

¹ The consent order of reference refers the Petition for Relief and “all summary judgment motions filed by the parties including those relating to legal claims,” and “all equitable claims alleged, and equitable remedies sought by all parties...” to the Beaufort County Master-in-Equity. (Consent Order of Reference, ROA 1).

on March 10, 2022. (Gill-Millers' Rule 59(e) Motion and Master's Order denying the Gill-Millers' Rule 59(e) Motion, ROA, respectively, 121 and 23).

The Gill-Millers timely filed their Notice of Appeal on March 15, 2022. (Notice of Appeal, ROA 353).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Regime was established under South Carolina's Horizontal Property Regime Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-10, *et seq.*, (the "HPA"), by the Master Deed of Sea Pines Plantation Company dated October 17, 1973, recorded in the then Beaufort County RMC on November 2, 1973, in book 215, page 1092 (1973 Master Deed, ROA 467).²

The Regime consists of three buildings, with two individual units in each building. Two units have three bedrooms, and four units have two bedrooms. The 1973 Master Deed defines the general common area elements as all the Regime property except the interiors of the individual units and the limited common area elements. The limited common area elements are defined as the rear and front yards, service and like areas, and structures immediately adjacent to the individual units and the limited common area elements' use is restricted to the owners of the individual units adjacent to the particular limited common area element. (1973 Master Deed, ROA 467).

Under HPA § 27-31-60(a), the 1973 Master Deed sets the value of the Regime property as a whole at \$458,000.00 and assigns values of \$73,000.00 to the four, two-bedroom units and \$83,000.00 to the two, three-bedroom units. Based on the ratio of the values assigned the individual units to the assigned value of the Regime property as a whole, per HPA § 27-31-60(a),

² The 1973 Master Deed was amended on August 20, 1984, with the consent of all the Regime unit co-owners, this amendment being recorded on September 7, 1984, at deed book 402, page 1779. This amendment does not affect the issues raised in this appeal.

the 1973 Master Deed sets the proportionate share of the unit owners' interest in the general and limited common area elements and their proportionate representation for voting in the Regime's Council of Co-Owners at 15.939% for the two-bedroom unit owners and 18.122% for the three-bedroom unit owners. (1973 Master Deed, ROA 467).

The Gill-Millers own Unit 1595. Taylor owns Unit 1596. The owners of the remaining Units, 1591, 1592, 1593, and 1594, are not parties to this lawsuit. (Order Granting Regime's Petition for Relief, ROA 4).

Over many years, the owners of Units 1591, 1594, and the Gill-Millers, expanded their units into the limited common elements associated with their respective units. Over the years, the unit owners discussed the possible need to amend the 1973 Master Deed to adjust the maintenance expenses attributable to the expanded units. No unanimous agreement on an amendment, as required by the 1973 Master Deed, has been reached regarding any such amendment. (Order Granting Regime's Petition for Relief, ROA 4).

On March 1, 2018, as provided by HPA § 27-31-90, the Regime was incorporated under South Carolina's Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-101, *et seq.* (the "NCA"), as a nonprofit corporation.

After the issues were joined in this lawsuit, the Regime filed its Petition for Relief asking that the Master, under NCA § 33-31-160, order the Regime hold a special meeting to approve an amendment to the 1973 Master Deed. The Regime also requested the Master alter the unanimous voting requirements of the 1973 Master Deed and the HPA so the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the co-owners, based on the voting percentages established by the 1973 Master Deed, was all that was necessary to approve the proposed amendment. (Regime Petition for Relief, ROA 45).

The Master granted the Regime’s requested relief. (Order Granting Regime Relief, ROA 4). The Master’s order, to which this appeal was taken, directed the Regime hold a special meeting, ordered that based on the voting percentages of the 1973 Master Deed, any amendment of the Master Deed proposed at the required special meeting would win approval by a simple majority of the votes cast by the co-owners, and directed that any Master Deed amendment so approved “shall ... constitute a valid and lawful amendment....” as directed by subsequent order. (*Id.*, ROA 15).

On March 17, 2022, the Regime held the ordered special meeting. At that meeting, an Amendment to the 1973 Master Deed proposed by Taylor received 52.183% of the participating co-owners’ votes.³ (2022 Amendments to 1973 Master Deed, Exhibit “C” to the Regime’s Motion for Entry of Order Declaring Master Deed Amendment Valid and Lawful, ROA 347).

On March 31, 2022, the Regime moved the Master for a ruling “ordering the [majority only approved 2022 Amendments to the 1973 Master Deed] to constitute a valid and lawful amendment to the [1973] Master Deed, with the same force and effect as if it complied with all otherwise applicable legal requirements....” and directing that the majority approved 2022 Amendments to the 1973 Master Deed “be filed in the public records of Beaufort County.” (Regime Motion for Entry of Order Declaring Master Deed Amendment Valid and Lawful, March 31, 2022 Motion, and Exhibit “C” to Regime March 31, 2022 Motion, ROA 272 and 347).

The majority approved 2022 Amendments to the 1973 Master Deed seek to amend numerous provisions of the 1973 Master Deed, including the property description and the square

³ At the March 17, 2022 “Special Meeting” ordered by the Master, Units 1593, 1594 and 1596 voted in favor of the proposed amendments to the 1973 Master Deed, the Gill-Millers (Unit 1595) voted against the proposed amendments, and Units 1591 and 1592 were absent and did not vote. *See* Regime’s March 31, 2022, Motion for Entry of Order Declaring Master Deed Amendment Valid and Lawful, ROA 272.

footage of the individual units and the common area elements. Most significantly, the majority approved 2022 Amendments to the 1973 Master Deed assign different common and limited common area ownership percentages to the 6 individual units. The 2022 Amendments to the 1973 Master Deed do so by calculating the ratio of the square footage of the individual units on a September 17, 2019, revised As-Built survey of the Regime property, to the total square footage of the individual units, and applying that percentage to the 1973 Master Deed established value of the Regime property. The results change the values assigned to all six individual units from 1973 Master Deed's two values, one for the two-bedroom units, the other for the three-bedroom units, to different values for each individual unit, and establishes different ownership and voting percentages for each unit based on the square-footage formula adopted by the Master Deed amendments. This creates one "super unit" having a proportionate common and limited common area element and voting share of 22.801%, a "junior unit" having a proportionate common and limited common area element and voting share of 13.549%, with the remaining units' proportionate common and limited common area element and voting shares falling between these two extremes, none of the units having the same proportionate common and limited element or voting share, including two of the two-bedroom units that have not been expanded. (*Id.*).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The *de novo* standard of review applies to appeals involving questions of law. *Ziegler v. Dorchester County*, 426 S.C. 615, 619, 828 S.E.2d 218, 220 (2019).

ARGUMENT

I. The Master could not alter the unanimity requirement of HPA § 27-31-60(a) regarding changes in the Regime unit owners' ownership percentages in the Regime common and limited common area elements because this section of the HPA could not be overridden by NCA § 33-31-160(c).

A. The Horizontal Property Regime Act.

Under the HPA, by recording a master deed, a South Carolina real property owner may declare their property subject to a horizontal property regime. HPA § 27-31-30.

The creation of a South Carolina horizontal property regime can be accomplished only “through compliance with the [HPA].” *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 360 - 61, 628 S.E. 2d 902, 912 (Ct. App. 2006).

The interest of the unit owners within an established horizontal property regime is an “estate[] in real property...,” Black’s Law Dictionary at 267 (5th Ed.1979), consisting of the exclusive ownership of their individual unit, plus “the common right to share, with the other co-owners...,” in the common area elements of the horizontal property regime. HPA § 27-31-60(a).

Under HPA §27-31-40, once established as a horizontal property regime, South Carolina condominiums “may be individually conveyed and encumbered and may be the subject of ownership, possession or sale and of all types of juridic acts inter vivos or mortis causes ... and the individual titles and interest shall be recordable.”

HPA § 27-31-60(a), controls the establishment of the individual unit owners’ interests in the horizontal property regime common area elements, providing that the unit owner’s percentage of common area interest:

... shall be computed by taking as a basis the value of the individual apartment in relation to the value of the property as a whole. The percentage [of common area element interest] *shall be expressed at the time the horizontal property regime is*

constituted, shall have a permanent character, and shall not be altered without the acquiescence of the co-owners representing all the apartments of the property.

Emphasis added.

Under this HPA section, the 1973 Master Deed set the value of the Regime property as a whole at \$458,000.00 and assigned values of \$73,000.00 to the four two-bedroom units and \$83,000.00 to the two three-bedroom units. Based on the ratio of the assigned value of the Regime property as a whole to the value of the individual units, the 1973 Master Deed set the proportionate share of the unit owners' interest in the general and limited common area elements and their proportionate representation for voting in the Regime's co-owners council at 15.939% for the two-bedroom unit owners and 18.122% for the three-bedroom unit owners. (1973 Master Deed, ROA 467).

In addition to providing for the establishment of the unit owners' ownership rights in the horizontal property regime property, the HPA provides for the administration of horizontal property regimes. HPA §§ 27-31-150 and 160 require horizontal property regimes be "governed by bylaws" recorded on the public land records of the county in which the property is located and provide minimal requirements for the contents of such bylaws. Most significantly for this appeal, HPA § 27-31-90, permits horizontal property regimes, for the purposes of "administering" their counsels of condominium co-owners, to incorporate under South Carolina law. This the Regime did in 2018, as a nonprofit corporation under the NCA. (Master's Order granting Regime's Petition for Relief, ROA 4).

B. The Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994.

NCA § 33-31-302(18) provides that “[u]nless its articles of incorporation provide otherwise, every corporation ... has the same powers as an individual ... to do all things necessary or convenient, *not inconsistent with law*, to further the activities and affairs of the corporation.”

Emphasis added.

NCA § 33-31-301(b) says:

A corporation engaging in an activity that is subject to regulation under another statute of this State may incorporate under this chapter only if incorporation under this chapter is not prohibited by the other statute. *The corporation is subject to all limitations of the other statute.*

Emphasis added.

NCA § 33-31-160(a) says:

If for any reason it is impractical or impossible for a corporation to call or conduct a meeting of its members, delegates, or directors, or otherwise obtain their consent, in the manner prescribed by its articles, bylaws, or this chapter, then upon petition of a director, officer, delegate, member, ... the court of common pleas for the county in which the principal office designated on the last filed notice of change of principal office, articles, or application for authority to transact business is located, ... may order that such a meeting be called or that a written ballot or other form of obtaining the vote of members, delegates, or directors be authored, in such a manner as the court finds fair and equitable under the circumstances.

Upon such a finding, NCA § 33-31-160(c) says:

The order issued pursuant to this section may dispense with any requirement relating to the holding of or voting at meetings or obtaining votes, including any requirement as to quorums or as to the number or percentage of votes needed for approval, that would otherwise be imposed by the *articles, bylaws, or this chapter.*

Emphasis added.

Under NCA § 33-31-160(a) and (c), overriding and preempting HPA § 27-31-60(a), the Master ordered a bare majority of the Regime’s co-owners’ votes could amend any part of the 1973 Master Deed, including its provisions regarding the percentage of ownership of the common

and limited common area elements of the Regime and change the formula by which those new percentages are calculated.

This was error.

C. The pertinent sections of the HPA and NCA can be harmonized giving effect to their plain language and requiring the reversal of the Master's Order.

When there is a conflict between statutes, “[t]he goal of statutory construction is to harmonize conflicting statutes whenever possible ...” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 91, 533 S.E.2d 583, 584 (2000). The principal goal of statutory construction is to determine the intent of the legislature. *State v. Squires*, 311 S.C. 11, 14, 426 S.E.2d 738, 739 (1992). “In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” *South Carolina State Ports Authority v. Jasper County*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006) (citing *TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998)). “A statute should not be construed by concentrating on an isolated phrase.” *Id.* (citing *Laurens County School Districts 55 and 56 v. Cox*, 308 S.C. 171, 417 S.E.2d 560 (1992)).

The Gill-Millers respectfully submit there is no conflict between the pertinent HPA and NCA sections and, as applied to the facts of this case, these two statutes can be read in harmony, giving the effect to each intended by the legislature.

The Regime is subject to the HPA – it would not exist but for its provisions. “The creation of a horizontal property regime is accomplished through compliance with the...” HPA. *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime*, at 361, 628 S.E. 2d 912. The Regime is bound by “all [HPA] limitations,” including HPA § 27-31-60(a)’s formula for calculating the property interests of the unit owners in the common and limited common area elements of the Regime, the permanent

nature of those interests, and the requirement that these interests cannot be altered or amended without the consent of all the individual unit owners.

The HPA also provides generally for the administration of horizontal property regimes. Pertinent here, HPA § 27-31-90 allows horizontal property regime owners to incorporate “for the purpose of the *administration* of the property constituted into a horizontal property regime.” Emphasis added.

NCA § 33-31-302(18) provides a nonprofit corporation, such as the Regime, the powers of a natural person to do everything “necessary or convenient” to further the interest of the Regime, but under the general limitation that such actions must not be “inconsistent with law...” NCA § 33-31-301(b) subjects nonprofit corporations to other, specific limitations require by other statutes.

NCA § 33-31-160(c), upon which the Master based his order, says that after making the findings required by NCA § 33-31-160(a), a court may alter “... the percentage of votes needed for approval, that would otherwise be imposed by the *articles, bylaws or this chapter*.” Emphasis added.

Reading these sections together and in harmony, the HPA provides the statutory framework and formula for establishing, by master deed, the property interests of individual unit owners in the common and limited common area regime elements. The HPA also provides for the administration of horizontal property regimes and allows horizontal property regime unit co-owners to organize as corporations, including under the NCA, as nonprofit corporations. The NCA provides for the administration of nonprofit corporations generally and allows court intervention into the affairs of a nonprofit corporation upon a court’s finding, under NCA § 33-31-160(a), that “it is impractical or impossible for [the] corporation to call or conduct a meeting of its members....” Having made this finding a court may “order that such a meeting be called or that a

written ballot or other form of obtaining the vote of members, in such a manner as the court finds fair and equitable under the circumstances.” Under NCA § 33-31-160(c), court intervention can include dispensing with any “requirement relating to the holding of or voting at meetings or obtaining votes, including any requirement as to ... the number or percentage of votes needed for approval, that would otherwise be imposed by the articles, bylaws or this chapter.”

The NCA § 33-31-160(c) vote alteration intervention power is, however, not unlimited.

First, this power is limited by the language of this section itself, which confines the vote alteration intervention power to the “percentage of votes needed for approval of the articles, bylaws or...” the NCA. The 1973 Master Deed is not an article nor a bylaw. It is a deed which, under the HPA, establishes the individual unit owners’ property interests in the Regime. Accordingly, NCA § 33-31-160(c), does not allow the Master to direct that changes in the 1973 Master Deed can be adopted by a bare majority co-owner vote and without the consent of the Gill-Millers, especially changes in the 1973 Master Deed concerning the property rights of the Gill-Millers.

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