RECEIVED

Dec 05 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Master-in-Equity

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in Equity  
Case No.: 2020-CP-07-01547

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000301

---

Todd E. Taylor,.....Respondent,

v.

Amar and Kennie Gill Living Trust Dated March 15, 2019; Kennie Lee Miller Gill, Trustee of the Amar and Kennie Gill Living Trust Dated March 15, 2019; Kenneth V.L. Miller; and Anna M. Miller.....Appellants,

v.

South Beach Village Lagoon Villas II, Horizontal Property Regime LVII,  
.....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

s/ Lacey L. Houghton

DOUGLAS W. MACKELCAN

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

Appellants further argue that the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 “confines the vote alteration intervention power to the percentage of votes needed for approval the articles, bylaws or the [Nonprofit Code]” and that this provision does not allow for alteration of voting requirements contained in the Regime’s Master Deed or the Horizontal Property Act. *See App. Br. at 12.* The language of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160(c) confers broad authority on a court, upon the proper showing, to “dispense with any requirement relating to the holding of or voting at meetings or obtaining votes, including any requirement as to quorums or as to the number or percentage of votes needed for approval, that would otherwise be imposed by the articles, bylaws, or this chapter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160(d) further confers broad authority on a court to “authorize the obtaining of whatever votes and approvals are necessary for the dissolution, merger, or sale of assets.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160(c) is not limited in the manner argued by Appellants. Indeed, the first clause of this code section reads “the order issued pursuant to this section may dispense with any requirement relating to the holding of or voting at meetings or obtaining votes...” The statute goes on to state that this broad grant of authority includes “any requirement as to quorums or as to the number or percentage of votes needed for approval, that would otherwise be imposed by the articles, bylaws, or this chapter.” Pursuant to the plain language of the first clause of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160(c), a court is authorized to “dispense with **any** requirement relating to the holding of or voting at meetings or obtaining votes...” (emphasis added). This broad grant of authority is not limited by its terms, and does not exclude voting requirements contained in a Horizontal Property Regime’s Master Deed or the Horizontal Property Act. Therefore the Master-in-Equity acted within the authority afforded pursuant to the Statute in granting the Regime’s Petition and modifying the unanimous vote requirement.

However, Appellants argue the Master exceeded his authority under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 based on the plain language of the statute. Appellants suggest the Master should have ordered the Regime to hold a special meeting and directed a vote on proposed amendments to the Master Deed at the meeting, but should have left the unanimous vote requirement in place. Any such “relief” afforded by the lower court would have been futile relief, an effective nullity, and an absurd outcome, as demonstrated by the long history of the inability of the Regime co-owners to come to unanimous agreement on an amendment to the Master Deed.

“All statutes must be construed in the light of their purpose. A literal reading of them which would lead to absurd results is to be avoided when they can be given a reasonable application consistent with their words and with the legislative purpose.” *Haggar Co. v. Helvering*, 308 U.S. 389, 394, 60 S. Ct. 337, 339, 84 L. Ed. 340 (1940) (declining to accept litigant’s literal reading of tax statute when such reading would lead to “harsh and incongruous result”, which did not serve the function and purpose of the statute). If possible, a statute is to be construed so as to escape any absurdity and carry legislative intent into effect. *Kiriakides v. United Artists Commc'ns, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994). “In so doing, the Court should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute, but rather, read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose.” *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355–56, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016).

The clear intent and purpose of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 is to provide a court with authority to grant “escape valve” relief to an entity organized under the Nonprofit Code, which has reached an impasse due to quorums, voting percentages, or other procedural requirements relating to the affairs of the corporation. That is precisely what the Master did in this case. The unanimous approval requirement contained in S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-60 is a generally applicable

requirement that is subject to alteration where a horizontal property regime is likewise incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the Nonprofit Code, in the extraordinary cases where the required showing is made pursuant to § 33-31-160. In this manner, the provisions of the Horizontal Property Act and the Nonprofit Code can be read to be in harmony with each other. However, to the extent they cannot be read to be in harmony with each other, the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 should control as the legislative intent in enacting this statute was to provide “an escape valve allowing nonprofit corporations to conduct meetings or obtain the consent of members...when it is otherwise impractical or impossible to do so.” *See* Official Comment to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160. The intent of the Legislature to provide an avenue for relief in the alteration of voting requirements to a nonprofit corporation in a situation such as that of the Regime should not be overridden by a previously enacted, generally applicable rule requiring unanimous voting approval. The Master acted within his authority pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160.

**2. This Court should affirm the grant of the Regime’s Petition on preservation grounds because Appellants did not raise their statutory construction arguments with sufficient specificity below and the Master-in-Equity did not rule on the arguments.**

An argument must be raised to and ruled upon by the lower court in order to be preserved for appeal.

A great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.

*Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23–24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779–80 (2004). *See also* *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 144, 638 S.E.2d 650, 661 (2006) (“This argument was neither presented to nor ruled on by the circuit court; therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review.”). Furthermore, if an argument is presented to the circuit court

but not ruled upon, the litigant is obligated to move for reconsideration to obtain a ruling in order to preserve the argument for appeal. *Kosciusko v. Parham*, 428 S.C. 481, 506, 836 S.E.2d 362, 375 (Ct. App. 2019). However, an argument cannot be presented for the first time in a motion for reconsideration or on appeal. *Id.*

The preservation requirement is imposed to give the lower court an opportunity to rule properly after considering the relevant facts, law, and arguments. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). In *I'On, L.L.C.*, 338 S.C. at 422, the Supreme Court noted:

The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments...Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.

Appellate courts will not reverse a lower court on a ground that was not submitted to the lower court. *Powers v. City of Aiken*, 255 S.C. 115, 117, 177 S.E.2d 370, 371 (1970). After all, the court of appeals is a court of review. *Id.* The purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the lower court did not do something it should have, or did something it should not have. *Id.* To accomplish this review purpose, an argument must be sufficiently presented to the lower court so it has an opportunity to rule. *See id.*

When considering whether the argument was presented to the lower court, the appellate court examines whether the appellant raised the argument with sufficient specificity. The argument must be sufficiently clear so that it can be understood by the lower court and ruled upon. *See, e.g., Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). This does not require an appellant to use the exact name of a legal doctrine; instead, the issue must be fairly

raised such that the lower court is given opportunity to rule on the issue. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 596 (2010). Distilled to its essence, this is a requirement of substance over form. *See id.* (finding an argument to the circuit court that “an arrest was not being made when the appellant ran from police” was sufficient to preserve argument on appeal that there was not a seizure under the Fourth Amendment, despite the appellant never using the terms “seizure” or “Fourth Amendment”); *State v. Mitchell*, 378 S.C. 305, 662 S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding appellate argument based on Confrontation Clause preserved despite not mentioning the “Confrontation Clause” to the circuit court when defense counsel argued a written statement should be excluded because he could not cross-examine the witness).

If, on the other hand, the litigant fails to use the name of a legal doctrine and the arguments below do not clearly present the issue to the circuit court, the argument is not preserved. *See Kosciusko*, 428 S.C. at 506, 836 S.E.2d at 375 (finding “estoppel” argument not raised with sufficient specificity to be preserved when a father argued to the family court the other party “agreed to the arbitration” but did not argue the other party “accepted the benefits of the void judgment”); *id.* (finding father’s “law of the case” appellate argument was not preserved by father’s argument to the family court that “the arbitration award had been approved by another judge” because father did not argue the orders were “unappealed” or “binding” and his reference was more likely seen as comment on procedural posture, not law of the case).

Beyond parsing words or phrases, a court determining whether an argument was presented below in the absence of express reference to a doctrine will evaluate whether the litigant cited relevant legal authority to the circuit court. *Compare State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 87 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (finding argument that search warrant should be thrown out based on the warrant statute was not preserved when the warrant statute was not argued, the only grounds argued

were constitutional, and the cited authority did not relate to the warrant statute) *with State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding defendant’s “corpus delicti” argument preserved despite defendant not mentioning the doctrine by name in directed verdict motion because the record reflected the motion was based on the doctrine, and the State in response below mentioned “corpus delicti” and cited relevant authority).

Here, Appellants are requesting this Court reverse the Master’s grant of the Regime’s Petition on grounds they did not sufficiently present to the Master-in-Equity. Specifically, Appellants argue this Court should reverse the Master in Equity’s decision pursuant to principles of statutory construction. But Appellants never made statutory construction arguments concerning the proper construction of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 and § 27-31-60 to the Master-in-Equity in form or substance, nor cited relevant authority.

In Section I of Appellants’ Brief, Appellants make a number of arguments based on principles of statutory construction, such as harmonizing conflicting statutes and interpreting statutes to give effect of to the legislature’s intent. Appellants argue the relevant portions of the Horizontal Property Act and the Non-Profit Corporation Act can be harmonized, and they highlight and construe isolated phrases under both Acts. *See App. Br. at 10*. If the statutes cannot be harmonized and there is a conflict, Appellants argue alternatively the Horizontal Property Act should be interpreted to control over the Non-Profit Corporation Act. *See App. Br. at 14-15*. Moreover, Appellants argue the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 is limited by its terms and simply did not permit the Master to modify the unanimous voting requirement contained in the Master Deed and the Horizontal Property Act. *See App. Br. at 12*.

Examining the record below, Appellants did not argue the form or substance of statutory construction to the Master in Equity. Appellants’ response to the Regime’s Petition does not

reference “statutory construction,” “interpretation,” “harmonize,” or “legislative intent.” *See generally* **R. pp. 91-101**. Neither did Appellants make such arguments at the hearing on the Petition. *See* **R. pp. 360-436**. The arguments Appellants advanced below focused on repeating the unanimous voting requirements under the Horizontal Property Act, that the owners agreed to the language in the Master Deed and should be bound by it, and that the proposed amendment to the Master Deed would unfairly prejudice the unimproved lots. *See* **R. pp. 94-94, 98**. None of Appellants’ arguments below could be construed as raising the substance of a statutory construction argument the Master-in-Equity. Further, it is not clear from the colloquy with the Master-in-Equity and the order that the Master-in-Equity understood Appellants were making an argument on statutory construction grounds. Moreover, in the court below, Appellants did not assert that the terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-160 themselves were restricted and did not permit the Master-in-Equity to modify the unanimous voting requirement to amend the Master Deed. *See generally* **R. pp. 91-101**. Similar to *Kosciusko*, because Appellants did not argue to the Master-in-Equity their statutory construction arguments by name nor in substance, Appellants failed to raise these arguments and they are not preserved for appeal.

Additionally, the legal authorities upon which Appellants rely on appeal were not cited below or argued to the Master-in-Equity in response to the Regime’s Petition. Other than references to some of the same statutes, the only two cases Appellants cite on appeal that they cited below were not cited in relation to any arguments regarding statutory construction. Instead, the arguments related to enforcing contracts despite the contracting parties’ wisdom or folly (*Ellis v. Taylor*) and what it generally means for a property to be considered a horizontal property regime (*Queen’s Grant II*). *See* **R. pp. 94-95**. Similar to *Dunbar*, because Appellants failed to expressly argue statutory construction below and did not cite relevant legal authority regarding statutory

construction to the Master-in-Equity, Appellants' arguments are not preserved for appeal and this Court should affirm the Master's grant of the Regime's Petition.

In sum, under Issue I Appellants are asking this Court to reverse the Master-in-Equity on grounds they did not present to the Master-in-Equity. By failing to argue statutory construction below, the Master-in-Equity was not given an opportunity to rule on the matter. As expressed in *Powers*, appellate courts will not reverse lower courts on grounds not presented to those courts. As set forth in Section I(1) above, Appellants' arguments do not provide a substantive basis for reversal of the Master-in-Equity in any event. However, additionally, this Court should find Appellants failed to preserve their arguments under Issue I and affirm the grant of the Regime's Petition.

Finally, if Appellants believed they presented these arguments to the Master-in-Equity but he failed to rule on the arguments, it was Appellants' obligation to request a ruling from the Master-in-Equity in a motion for reconsideration. However, this was not done. Therefore, the arguments raised under Issue I are not preserved.

**II. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY PROPERLY EXERCISED AUTHORITY TO MODIFY THE PERCENTAGE OF VOTES NEEDED FOR APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE MASTER DEED, PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 33-31-160, WHERE THE REGIME DEMONSTRATED IT WAS IMPOSSIBLE AND IMPRACTICAL FOR THE REGIME TO OTHERWISE OBTAIN THE CONSENT OF ITS MEMBERS, DESPITE THE PROVISIONS OF THE MASTER DEED.**

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